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NOTES

Abbreviations

Media
AP: Associated Press
FTP: Chuck Harder, For the People radio broadcast
MH: Miami Herald
NYT: New York Times
PBP: Palm Beach Post
WP: Washington Post

Reports
9/11 Commission Report: National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States, 

The 9/11 Commission Report: Final Report of the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks 
Upon the United States, Government Printing Office, 2004, Washington, DC.

USCCR Report: U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Voting Irregularities in Florida During the 
2000 Presidential Election, Government Printing Office, June 2001, Washington, DC.

Archival Collections
9/11 Commission Files: Declassified files of the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks 

Upon the United States, National Archives, Washington DC.
Clinton Library: Digital collection of the William J. Clinton Presidential Library and 

Museum, Little Rock, AR.
Miller Center: Presidential Oral History Project, Miller Center, University of Virginia, 

Charlottesville.
National Security Archive: The Central Intelligence Agency’s 9/11 File, National Security 

Archive, George Washington University, declassified document collection. Posted 
June 19, 2012.

Reno Papers: Janet Reno Papers, University of Miami Library Special Collections.
UF Election Project: Florida Election Project Oral History Collection, Samuel Proctor Oral 

History Program, University of Florida Digital Collections.

Criminal Investigations and Legal Proceedings
ATF Report: Report of Investigation, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms, Case No. 

764055 99 0015 (Title of Investigation: Diaa Mohsen).
BKA Files: Files of the Bundeskriminalamt (BKA), the German federal law enforcement 

agency.
FBI Timeline: FBI, “Hijackers Timeline (Redacted),” FBI Records: The Vault, vault.fbi.gov.
NAACP v. Harris: National Association for the Advancement of Colored People et al. v. 

Katherine Harris et al., U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida, 2001.
USA v. al-Bahlul: USA v. Ali Hamza Ahmad Suliman al-Bahlul, U.S. Military Commission 

at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. Case tried in 2008.
USA v. Ingram: USA v. Kevin Ingram, Walter Kapij and Diaa Mohsen, Case No. 01-cr-8090, 

U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida, 2001.
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USA v. KSM: USA v. Khalid Sheikh Mohammed et al., U.S. Military Commission at 
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. Case filed in 2008.

USA v. Moussaoui: USA v. Zacarias Moussaoui, Case No. 01-cr-455, U.S. District Court for 
the Eastern District of Virginia. Case filed in 2001, tried in 2006.

Please be advised that the page numbers listed below are  

associated with the hardcover edition of the book. 

Prologue: Inauguration Day
1	 It is Inauguration Day: C-SPAN, “President George W. Bush Inaugural 

Ceremony,” C-SPAN.org, Jan. 20, 2001.
2	 “The underlying vibe”: Hank Stuever, “Under a Shroud of Gray, Muffled Cheers 

and Jeers,” WP, Jan. 21, 2001.
2	 Hail to the thief: NYT, Jan. 21, 2001.
2	 “We can only wonder”: NYT, Jan. 21, 2001.
4	 knew Gore was in trouble: Karl Rove, oral history, interviewed by Russell Riley et 

al., Miller Center (hereafter “Rove, Miller Center oral history”).
4	 He has promised: Nicholas Lemann, “All Together Now?,” The New Yorker, 

Nov. 26, 2000.
4	 calling his boy “Quincy”: Frank Bruni, Ambling into History (New York: 

HarperCollins, 2002), p. 220.
4	 Dubya has been reading up: George W. Bush, Decision Points (New York: Crown, 

2010), p. 86.
5	 “shockingly good”: Hendrik Hertzberg, “Comment: The Word from W,” The New 

Yorker, Feb. 5, 2001.
5	 “My fellow citizens”: George W. Bush, “President George W. Bush’s Inaugural 

Address,” Jan. 20, 2001.
5	 The Onion sums it all up: “Bush: ‘Our Long National Nightmare of Peace and 

Prosperity Is Finally Over,’ ” The Onion, Jan. 17, 2001.
6	 “I left the White House”: “Text: Former President Clinton’s Farewell,” WP, 

Jan. 20, 2001.
6	 back at the White House by 11:37: Bruni, Ambling into History, p. 223.
6	 a wistful Darrell Hammond: Saturday Night Live, Episode 495, Jan. 20, 2001, 

NBC.

1: Zero Zero
7	 That day, in Germany: Passenger manifest, Turkish Airlines Flight 1662, Nov. 25, 

1999, BKA Files.
7	 Ziad Jarrah had spent: This account of Jarrah’s preparations for his trip to 

Afghanistan was compiled from various primary and secondary sources, including 
9/11 Commission Report, July 22, 2004; witness interviews with Aysel Sengün and 
others, BKA Files; Terry McDermott, Perfect Soldiers (New York: HarperCollins, 
2005); Mary Anne Weaver, “The Indecisive Terrorist,” London Review of Books,  
Sept. 8, 2011.

8	 “The morning will come”: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 88.
9	 In the still hours: This description of the boat voyage primarily drawn from: Ann 

Louise Bardach, “Elián’s Boat: The Untold Story,” George, May 2000; Elaine De Valle, 
“The Deadly Voyage: How It Happened,” MH, Dec. 13, 1999.
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11	 but when he awoke: Elián Gonzalez, interview in the documentary Elián, dir. Tim 
Golden and Ross McDonnell (Five Point Films/Jigsaw Productions, 2017).

11	 Janet Reno spent the weekend: Janet Reno, Schedules for Nov. 20–27, 1999. 
Reno’s schedules for 1999–2000 provided by Todd Rowley.

11	 Reno picked up the Herald: Janet Reno, oral history, interviewed by Russell Riley et al., 
Miller Center (hereafter “Reno, Miller Center oral history”).

12	 “The ocean is a dangerous”: MH, Nov. 26, 1999.
12	 “Little Rafter Leaves Hospital”: MH, Nov. 27, 1999.
13	 “toilet paper will be totally computerized”: Conan O’Brien, In the Year 2000 . . . 

(New York: Riverhead Books, 1999), p. 12.
13	 the tiny Pacific nation of Kiribati: Colin Woodard, “South Pacific Battles for Y2K 

Bragging Rights,” Christian Science Monitor, Dec. 1, 1999.
14	 A Manhattan hotelier: PBP, Nov. 28, 1999.
14	 For the cost of $40,000: “Planning for the Eve of 2000,” CBSNews.com, April 1, 

1999.
14	 In the words of one scholar: Author interview, Chip Berlet.
14	 “Something’s coming”: FTP, July 26, 1999.
14	 Harder called himself: Charles Harder, Will We Ever Learn? The Man Who Sees 

Tomorrow (Bloomington, IN: AuthorHouse, 2009).
14	 “They say Soviet-built nuke plants”: FTP, Dec. 16, 1999.
15	 “The Day the World Crashes”: Newsweek, June 1, 1997.
15	 a whole apocalyptic belief system: Dan Taberski (host), Headlong: Surviving Y2K 

(podcast series), 2018.
15	 “You may be tired of Y2K”: FTP, Oct. 25, 1999.
16	 “ ‘Stone-Age’ conditions”: “Y2K packages by Chuck Harder,” chuckharder.com, 

1999, archive.org.
16	 “coming dark times”: Chuck Harder, “BLACKOUT! Preparing for the Coming 

Dark Times. An Introductory Primer,” chuckharder.com, archive.org.
16	 Harder’s own home: Author visit, 2020.
16	 “Ladies and gentlemen”: FTP, Dec. 13, 1999.
16	 “Don’t Be Y2Krazy”: MH, Dec. 28, 1999.
17	 “He did invent”: Elaine Kamarck, oral history, interviewed by Russell Riley et al., Miller 

Center (hereafter “Kamarck, Miller Center oral history”).
18	 had sized Gore up: Tucker Carlson, “Devil May Care,” Talk, September 1999.
18	 “He’s not a dunce”: Author interview, Martin Peretz.
18	 “The times just don’t call”: Dana Milbank, Smashmouth: Two Years in the Gutter 

with Al Gore and George W. Bush (New York: Basic Books, 2001), p. 30.
19	 Clinton’s limousine passed: Orlando Sentinel, Dec. 12, 1999.
19	 “You may have noticed”: Bill Clinton, Remarks to the Florida State Democratic 

Convention in Orlando, Florida, Dec. 11, 1999.
20	 He prowled the stage: Orlando Sentinel, Dec. 12, 1999.
21	 Gore took a typically nuanced position: PBP, Dec. 12, 1999.
21	 Elián was also coming to Disney World: De Valle, “The Deadly Voyage.”
21	 Bill Clinton could see political peril: MH, Dec. 12, 1999.
22	 a briefing from the CIA: 9/11 Commission Staff, “Chronology of Key Events,” 

background binder for President Clinton and Vice President Gore’s interviews, 9/11 
Commission Files.

22	 a high-level briefing memo: CIA, “Bin Ladin to Exploit Looser Security During 
Holidays,” Senior Executive Intelligence Brief, Dec. 11, 1999, National Security Archive.
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22	 “unique opportunities”: CIA, “Millennium Threat Briefing for DCI,” Dec. 17, 
1999, National Security Archive.

22	 between five and fifteen attacks: Steve Coll, Ghost Wars (New York: Penguin, 
2004), p. 485.

22	 On December 14: Ahmed Ressam, witness testimony, USA v. Haouari, July 3, 
2001. See also 9/11 Commission Report, pp. 176–80; Richard A. Clarke, Against All 
Enemies (New York: Free Press, 2004), pp. 205–26; Garrett M. Graff, The Threat 
Matrix: The FBI at War in the Age of Global Terror (New York: Little, Brown, 2011), pp. 
248–52; Lawrence Wright, The Looming Tower (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2006), 
pp. 296–99.

23	 an editorial cartoon: Jeff MacNelly, “Freeze!,” Chicago Tribune, republished in the 
PBP, Dec. 31, 1999.

23	 “the biggest asses-to-elbow”: George Tenet, deposition given to 9/11 Commission, 
9/11 Commission Files.

23	 Reno slept on a couch: 9/11 Commission Staff, interview of Frances Fragos 
Townsend, 9/11 Commission Files.

23	 “Christmas is cancelled”: Graff, The Threat Matrix, p. 251.
24	 “I wouldn’t be anywhere else”: PBP, Dec. 29, 1999.
24	 the island’s foremost party planner: Author interview, Bruce Sutka.
24	 thirty-pound mound of caviar: Laurence Leamer, Mar-a-Lago (New York: Flatiron 

Books, 2019), p. 138.
24	 “That’s Stephanie Seymour”: Shannon Donnelly, “Midnight Madness,” Palm 

Beach Daily News, Jan. 2, 2000.
24	 His teenage daughter, Ivanka: Thom Smith, “Singer, Top Chef Help Trumps 

Greet 2000,” PBP, Jan. 4, 2000.
25	 The first humans to reach midnight: “Straddling Two Years: One Sub,” 

CBSNews.com, Dec. 31, 1999. Other details of celebrations from coverage in AP, NYT, 
and MH, Jan. 1, 2000.

26	 an Al Qaeda operative was sitting: 9/11 Commission Report, pp. 158–59; FBI, 
“Encore Investigation Update, Review and Analysis,” April 4, 2016, declassified  
Sept. 2021.

26	 “We’re taking your calls”: FTP, Dec. 31, 1999.
27	 That night, Kevin Ingram: This account of the New Year’s Eve party is compiled 

from interviews with people who attended, including Ingram, his wife at the time, 
Deann, and Ingram’s former colleague Jerry McMillan.

27	 what another guest later described: Author interview, Jerry McMillan.
28	 Sean “Puffy” Combs took the stage: “MTV 2 Large: New Year’s Eve 2000,” 

MTV, Dec. 31, 1999, video accessed via YouTube.
29	 the Artist then known as: Prince, Rave Un2 the Year 2000, dir. Geoff Wonfor 

(2000), DVD, released in 2019 as part of the Prince box set Ultimate Rave.
29	 he told CNN’s Larry King: Larry King interview with Prince, Larry King Live, CNN, 

Dec. 10, 1999, interview transcript accessed on prince.org.
30	 enjoyed a quiet dinner: “Bands Deliver Standards, Surprises on New Year’s Eve,” 

MTV.com, Jan. 3, 2000.
30	 was watching Times Square: Clarke, Against All Enemies, p. 214.
30	 a “super-duper command post”: Reno, Miller Center oral history.
30	 Reno and the leadership of the FBI: Louis Freeh, My FBI (New York: St. Martin’s 

Press, 2005), pp. 295–97.
30	 bored technicians relaxed: PBP, Jan. 1, 2000.
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30	 His guests included: Josh Gerstein, “Millennial Capital,” ABCNews.com, Dec. 31, 
1999.

31	 Muhammad Ali gave Reno a kiss: Author interview, Maggy Hurchalla.
31	 “The moral arc of the universe is long”: Marshall Frady, Jesse: The Life and 

Pilgrimage of Jesse Jackson (New York: Simon and Schuster Paperbacks, 1996), p. 48.
31	 “The change of centuries”: Bill Clinton, Remarks at the “America’s Millennium” 

Celebration, Dec. 31, 1999.
31	 “I think we dodged the bullet”: Clarke, Against All Enemies, p. 214.
32	 It was a balmy night: Descriptions of South Florida millennium festivities 

compiled from reports in the Miami Herald, South Florida Sun Sentinel, Palm Beach Post, 
and Palm Beach Daily News, Jan. 1, 2000.

32	 proceeded to noodle through: Phish set list, Dec. 31, 1999, Big Cypress Indian 
Reservation, audio file at www.phishtracks.com.

32	 paramedics responded: Palm Beach Daily News, Jan. 5, 2000.
32	 Thousands gathered on the parade route: “Orange Bowl Parade Still a Family 

Tradition,” MH, Jan. 1, 2000.
32	 The Orange Bowl Parade was famed: Author interview, Norman Silva.
33	 “It will welcome the United States”: “Magic City Millennium,” Orange Bowl 

Committee, 1999, p. 12. The parade program and float sketches are archived in 
Orange Bowl Parade Collection, Smithsonian National Museum of American History, 
Washington, DC.

33	 The float sputtered: “Orange Bowl Parade Still a Family Tradition.”

2: Strange Land
34	 stroke of midnight: MH, Jan. 2, 2000.
34	 packed in so tightly: MH, July 23, 2000.
35	 “Two things play against Haitians”: MH, Jan. 6, 2000.
36	 the inspiration for the minstrel tune: T. D. Allman, Finding Florida (New York: 

Atlantic Monthly Press, 2003), pp. 340–45.
36	 “Hello, everybody”: FTP, Jan. 4, 2000.
36	 “maybe 3,000 people”: Marc Cooper, “The Paranoid Style,” The Nation, April 10, 

1995.
37	 “enslave us all”: Chuck Harder, “The Gray Bomb,” chuckharder.com, 2000, 

archive.org.
37	 an exemplar of an emerging phenomenon: Michael Kelly, “The Road to Paranoia,” 

The New Yorker, June 11, 1995.
37	 “These things came from the global elite”: FTP, July 29, 1999.
37	 “the first globalist president”: Joe Klein, “Eight Years,” The New Yorker, Oct. 8, 

2000.
38	 “the central reality of our time”: Bill Clinton, State of the Union Address, Jan. 27, 

2000.
38	 he continued to shuffle: FTP, Jan. 4, 2000.
39	 “Kid is with relative”: John Pogash to Arthur Strathern, email, Nov. 30, 1999, 

Reno Papers.
39	 The caseworker scrawled: Adria Martinez, “Unaccompanied Minor Statement of 

Suitability Determination,” Dec. 1, 1999, Reno Papers.
40	 “I want my son back”: Janelle Jones to Philip Busch, email, Jan. 27, 2000, Reno 

Papers.
41	 Fidel excused himself: MH, April 13, 2000.
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41	 an honored guest: MH, Jan. 10, 2000.
41	 Polls showed: AP, Dec. 15, 1999.
41	 “Where Does He Belong?”: Time, Jan. 17, 2000.
42	 “another aspect of cultural life”: NYT, Jan. 29, 1996.
43	 “you don’t conform”: Richard Blow, “Janet Reno Stands Tall,” George, September 

1999.
43	 “dumb, dull and flat”: Jane Wood Reno, The Hell with Politics (Atlanta: Peachtree 

Publishers, 1994), p. 33.
43	 “I saw the hurricane”: Paul Anderson, Janet Reno: Doing the Right Thing 

(Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, 1994), p. 15.
43	 “She could storm and rage”: “Oral History of Janet Reno,” interviewed by Hilarie 

Bass, five interviews held over June 25, 2005, to Jan. 31, 2008, Women Trailblazers 
Project, American Bar Association.

44	 “as far west as they could go”: Anderson, Janet Reno, p. 22.
44	 “What they would do”: Author interview, Ann McDade.
45	 “When the world gets old”: Reno, The Hell with Politics, p. 114.
46	 “Janet saw the end of the movie”: Author interview, former Justice Department 

official.

3: Kandahar

47	 Kandahar smelled like shit: The smell of Kandahar and the configuration of its 
plumbing are intricately described by Osama bin Laden’s son Omar in his memoir, 
Growing Up Bin Laden, a book he cowrote with his mother, Najwa bin Laden, and 
Jean Sasson ([New York: St. Martin’s Griffin, 2009], p. 209). Other jihadi perspectives 
include Nine Lives, by Aimen Dean (London: Oneworld, 2018); and Nasser al-Bahri 
(aka Abu Jandal) with Georges Malbrunot, trans. Susan de Muth, Guarding Bin Laden: 
My Life in Al Qaeda (London: Thin Man Press, 2013). Other scenic elements compiled 
from contemporary photographs and travelogues, including William Vollmann, “Across 
the Divide,” The New Yorker, May 7, 2000.

47	 rehearses for a propaganda video: Video introduced into evidence in proceedings 
of USA v. al-Bahlul.

48	 retrace every step of his journey: See McDermott, Perfect Soldiers; Anthony 
Summers and Robbyn Swan, The Eleventh Day: The Full Story of 9/11 and Osama bin 
Laden (New York: Ballantine Books, 2011); Staff of Der Spiegel, Inside 9-11: What Really 
Happened (New York: St. Martin’s Press, 2001); Peter Finn, “Hamburg’s Cauldron of 
Terror,” WP, Sept. 11, 2002.

48	 a red Mercedes: Weaver, “The Indecisive Terrorist.”
49	 a paranoid library: “Atta’s Army,” Der Spiegel, July 9, 2006.
49	 ten thousand to twenty thousand: Wright, The Looming Tower, p. 301.
49	 Jarrah traveled: Weaver, “The Indecisive Terrorist.”
50	 “the Sheikh’s group”: Zacarias Moussaoui, testimony, USA v. Moussaoui; 

deposition of Saajid Badat, USA v. Adis Medunjanin, 2012.
50	 “forget their pasts”: Bin Laden, Growing Up Bin Laden, p. 198.
50	 Men who arrived: CIA, “Afghanistan Camps Central to 11 September Plot: Can 

Al Qaeda Train on the Run?,” June 20, 2003, p. 2; Dean, Nine Lives, p. 58.
50	 Jarrah took the kunya: Yosri Fouda and Nick Fielding, Masterminds of Terror (New 

York: Arcade Publishing, 2003), p. 112.
50	 the brothers would put Hollywood movies: Wright, The Looming Tower, p. 303.
50	 It is likely that Jarrah: Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, in a written deposition 
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submitted into evidence as part of the trial of Zacarias Moussaoui, claimed that 
the four men from Hamburg “expressed a desire to fight the Northern Alliance in 
Afghanistan, but Bin Laden insisted that they instead proceed as soon as possible to 
the US.”

51	 handbooks published by American survivalists: Reuel Marc Gerecht, “Blueprint 
for Terror,” Talk, October 2000.

51	 One mad bomb maker: Dean, Nine Lives, pp. 98–106; Bin Laden, Growing Up 
Bin Laden, pp. 229–30.

51	 a more isolated guesthouse: Ali Soufan, testimony, USA v. al-Bahlul.
51	 former government farm: A detailed description of the camp’s layout can be found 

in Coll, Ghost Wars, p. 391. See also Wright, The Looming Tower, p. 248; Bin Laden, 
Growing Up Bin Laden, p. 208; Dean, Nine Lives, p. 93.

51	 it was known as al-Matar: Badat deposition.
52	 his lieutenants knew him to be: Cathy Scott-Clark and Adrian Levy, The Exile 

(New York: Bloomsbury, 2017), p. 5.
52	 “Who had a good dream?”: Al-Bahri, Guarding Bin Laden.
52	 often went hungry: Bin Laden, Growing Up Bin Laden, p. 223.
52	 sermons in which he boasted: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 173.
53	 “poorly educated peasants”: Gerecht, “Blueprint for Terror.”
53	 “They seemed wily”: Al-Bahri, Guarding Bin Laden.
53	 “I came to you”: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 88.
53	 “Talk yourselves into martyrdom”: As-Sahab Media Foundation, Knowledge Is for 

Acting Upon, 2006. English translation of this Al Qaeda propaganda video provided 
by Evan Kohlmann.

54	 “He had the beady gaze”: Dean, Nine Lives, pp. 94–95.
54	 whirlwind of meetings: CIA, “11 September: The Plot and the Plotters,” 2003, 

National Security Archive; “The Confession,” Der Spiegel, November 2003.
54	 claim they protested: Scott-Clark and Levy, The Exile, p. 4.
54	 Only Jarrah and Atta: Author interview, Nelly Lahoud.
54	 an Indian airliner landed: Yudhijit Bhattacharjee, “The Terrorist Who Got Away,” 

New York Times Magazine, March 22, 2020.
55	 the leadership of Al Qaeda celebrated Eid al-Fitr: This event was videotaped by Al 

Qaeda propagandist Ali al-Bahlul. The U.S. government later recovered raw footage and 
identified many Al Qaeda members who attended, including Jarrah. The footage was 
entered into evidence during al-Bahlul’s military commission trial. The translations of 
bin Laden’s sermon are likewise from the evidence presented at that proceeding.

4: The Wall Street Project
57	 “You get out of the limo”: American Express advertisement, New York, Dec. 20, 

1999, p. 137.
57	 On a winter day in 1999: C-SPAN, “Wall Street Project,” Jan. 14, 1999, C-SPAN 

.org.
58	 Arrayed before the stage: Rainbow/PUSH Coalition, 2nd Annual Wall Street 

Project conference agenda, archive.org.
58	 Jackson described the Wall Street Project: George Packer, “Trickle Down Civil 

Rights,” New York Times Magazine, Dec. 12, 1999; David Whitford, “Jesse Shakes the 
Money Tree,” Fortune, June 21, 1999; Peter Boyer, “Man of Faith,” The New Yorker, 
Oct. 22, 2001; Karin Stanford, “Reverend Jesse Jackson and the Rainbow PUSH 
Coalition: Institutionalizing Economic Opportunity,” in Stanford and Ollie Johnson 
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III, eds., Black Organizations in the Post-Civil Rights Era (New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers 
University Press, 2002).

59	 “If you want to carve out”: David Garrow, Bearing the Cross (New York: Vintage, 
1988), p. 616.

59	 “Jesse, I want you to come”: Frady, Jesse, p. 227.
61	 “We will go from discussing Monica”: Amy Feldman, “Clinton Bringing Cash to 

Jackson Confab,” New York Daily News, Jan. 15, 2000.
61	 on the cover of Forbes: Forbes, March 1999.
62	 “Kevin was more or less”: Author interview, Jerry McMillan.
62	 Ingram was at the stock exchange gala: Author interview, Deann Prince.
62	 “Everybody was treating him”: Author interview, friend of Sparkle’s from the 

modeling world.
63	 “the Black version of Gordon Gekko”: Author interview, Philmore Anderson.
63	 Ingram came from Philadelphia: Author interview, Kevin Ingram.
63	 A brilliant but troubled man: Author interview, Karen Ingram.
63	 Kevin would hint to friends: Leah Nathans Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of 

Fortune,” Talk, November 2001.
63	 determined to be suicide: Germaine Ingram, letter to Judge Donald Middlebrooks 

regarding Kevin Ingram’s sentencing, Nov. 19, 2001. Ingram’s older sister told the judge 
that although she had heard that he had “attributed our father’s death to a gun battle, 
and that he had even claimed to be an orphan,” there was “never any serious doubt about 
the fact that the cause of death was suicide.”

64	 The real excitement was in bonds: This account of the development of the mortgage 
bond market in the 1980s and ’90s is indebted to Michael Lewis’s personal history of his 
time on the Salomon Brothers trading floor, Liar’s Poker (New York: W.W. Norton, 1989), 
and its post-2008 sequel, The Big Short (New York: W.W. Norton, 2010). Two other books 
that inform this account are Mark Zandi, Financial Shock (Upper Saddle River, NJ: FT 
Press, 2009), and Howard Hill, Finance Monsters (self-published, 2014).

66	 “They were minting money”: Author interview, Howard Altarescu.
66	 “He was as analytical”: Author interview, former Wall Street investment bank 

executive.
66	 one of only six Black bond traders: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”
66	 “People tend to think of this”: “On the Edge with CMOs,” Black Enterprise, 

October 1992, p. 72.
66	 A friend later quipped: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”
67	 “Kevin walks in”: Author interview, Howard Altarescu.
67	 Ingram was married: Demetra Ingram, letter to court regarding Kevin Ingram’s 

sentencing, June 14, 2005.
67	 “When I started at Goldman”: Author interview, former Goldman Sachs 

investment bank executive. It should be noted that some other contemporaries of 
Ingram’s remember no such culture of modesty at Goldman Sachs.

68	 “difficult to manage”: Jon Corzine, quoted in Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of 
Fortune.”

68	 he was told to wait: William Cohan, Money and Power: How Goldman Sachs Came 
to Rule the World (New York: Doubleday, 2011), pp. 423–24.

68	 “I guess I’m not the chosen one”: Landon Thomas Jr., “Ex-Goldman Trader Stung 
in Arms Plot, Shocks Colleagues,” New York Observer, July 2, 2001.

68	 sometimes disappeared: Author interviews, former Goldman Sachs colleagues; 
Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”

69	 back at the World Trade Center: Affidavit of ATF agent Stephen Barborini, USA 
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v. Ingram, Doc. No. 25, filed June 29, 2001; ATF Report No. 39, June 22, 1999.
69	 related to Egypt’s deposed royal family: Author interview, Diaa Mohsen.
69	 a high-stakes table: “Link Diagram #1,” ATF, Intelligence Division, Intelligence 

Summary, updated March 15, 1999; author interview, Benjamin Seaman.
69	 “a certain amount of cash”: Affidavit of ATF agent Stephen Barborini.
70	 “My offices are at Two World Trade”: Recorded telephone call between Kevin 

Ingram and Randy Glass, June 15, 1999.
70	 the details of which are in dispute: In a contemporaneous internal report, ATF 

agents running the sting operation record that the confidential informant (CI), Glass, 
“told Ingram that the money was from illegal arms deals and he wanted [the] money 
laundered. The CI even showed pictures of the CI holding various arms (ATF props)” 
(ATF Report No. 39, June 22, 1999). In his sworn affidavit, ATF agent Stephen 
Barborini alleges that after Glass told him the money was from arms deals, Ingram asked 
him to “retract that statement” before proceeding with the $100,000 transaction. Mohsen 
alleged in an interview with ATF agents after his arrest that he and Glass had disclosed 
in their initial talks that the money was coming from arms deals, and Ingram replied, 
“I don’t want to know.” To this day, Ingram denies ever being told anything about arms 
deals. Todd Petrie, a former undercover federal agent who posed as an accountant for the 
arms syndicate, told the author that he never explicitly discussed the origin of the funds 
with Ingram in their subsequent conversations about moving funds. “The representations 
were made through the informant [Glass] that we moved munitions illegally,” Petrie 
said. “So I really didn’t have to reinforce that when I met him.” Although ATF records 
disclosed via FOIA indicate Glass secretly recorded the initial World Trade Center 
meeting, no tape or transcript of it has been made publicly available.

70	 He told Glass he was forming offshore shell companies: Recorded phone calls 
between Ingram and Glass, June–August 1999.

70	 “IAM Global Money Fund”: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.” Ingram 
claims he has no recollection of proposing to create any such entity and says it would be 
outside his realm of financial expertise.

70	 “He explained to me”: Recorded phone call between Ingram and Glass, June 26, 
1999.

71	 “It’s going to be”: Recorded phone call between Ingram and Glass, July 13, 1999.

5: Baseball Man
72	 “It’s King Kong”: Big League Challenge, ESPN, 2000. TV special accessed via 

YouTube, Oct. 5, 2016.
73	 Canseco was Mr. Miami: Jose Canseco, Juiced: Wild Times, Rampant ’Roids, 

Smash Hits, and How Baseball Got Big (New York: ReganBooks, 2005); Jose Canseco, 
Vindicated: Big Names, Big Liars, and the Battle to Save Baseball (New York: Simon 
Spotlight Entertainment, 2008). Although Canseco’s credibility was challenged 
when his memoirs were published, much of what he claimed about the prevalence of 
performance-enhancing drugs was confirmed by subsequent investigations, including 
George Mitchell’s official Report to the Commissioner of Baseball on steroid use (New 
York: MLB, 2007).

73	 financed by his hometown’s cocaine cowboys: Tim Elfrink and Gus Garcia-
Roberts, Blood Sport (New York: Dutton, 2014), p. 7.

73	 called him “the Chemist”: Howard Bryant, Juicing the Game (New York: Viking, 
2005), p. 190.

73	 added twenty-five pounds of muscle: Canseco, Juiced, p. 50.
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74	 “Look at his arms”: Jerome Holtzman, “ ‘Look at His Arms’ . . . Scouts Go Ga-Ga 
over Rookie Slugger Canseco,” Chicago Tribune, April 3, 1986.

74	 He was a steroid user, too: Mark McGwire refused to answer questions about 
allegations of steroid usage when he testified under oath before a congressional 
committee in 2005. In 2010, he admitted that he had used performance-enhancing 
drugs during an injury-marred period in the early 1990s (NYT, Jan. 11, 2010). McGwire 
has continued to deny Canseco’s claim that he used steroids as a young player for the A’s.

74	 Canseco would later claim: Canseco, Juiced, p. 74.
74	 he looked like a wholesome white boy: Canseco, Juiced, pp. 76–80.
75	 “What the hell have you been doing?”: Canseco, Juiced, p. 215. Other accounts 

of this locker room conversation, with slight variations in wording, appear in Bryant, 
Juicing the Game, and Mark Fainaru-Wada and Lance Williams, Game of Shadows 
(New York: Gotham Books, 2006).

75	 “I told him everything I knew”: Canseco, Vindicated, p. 36; Fainaru-Wadu and 
Williams, Game of Shadows, reports that Bonds started to experiment with steroids 
well before the locker room encounter in 2000. In 2011, a jury found Bonds guilty of 
obstruction of justice in a case connected to an investigation of his alleged steroid use. 
The conviction was later overturned.

75	 his teammates would discreetly seek out his expertise: Canseco, Juiced, p. 263.
75	 he believed that, if used properly: Canseco, Juiced, p. 3.
76	 “Bombastic Bushkin”: Lois Romano and George Lardner Jr., “Bush’s Life-

Changing Year,” WP, July 25, 1999. This article was the first in a seven-part series, “The 
Making of George W. Bush.”

76	 “I never dreamed of being president”: Carlson, “Devil May Care.”
77	 champagne unit: Jean Edward Smith, Bush (New York: Simon and Schuster, 

2016), p. 17.
77	 “chased a lot of pussy”: Mark Updegrove, The Last Republicans (New York: 

HarperCollins, 2017), p. 13.
77	 Lee Atwater was a liquor-drinking: John Brady, Bad Boy: The Life and Politics of 

Lee Atwater (New York: Addison-Wesley, 1997).
77	 working for a rival Republican: Roger Stone and another partner in the firm were 

consultants to Jack Kemp, a former NFL quarterback and congressman.
77	 “I said, ‘How can we trust you?’ ”: Evan Smith, “George, Washington,” Texas 

Monthly, June 1999.
77	 “If someone throws a grenade at our dad”: Bush, Decision Points, p. 43.
78	 “If I’m disloyal”: Romano and Lardner, “The Making of George W. Bush,” WP, 

July 31, 1999.
78	 “He was itching to go”: Romano and Lardner, “The Making of George W. Bush,” 

WP, July 25, 1999.
78	 an office in between Atwater and Roger Ailes: Smith, Bush, pp. 48–49.
78	 Dubya would spend his days: Nicholas Lemann, “The Redemption,” The New 

Yorker, Jan. 31, 2000.
78	 Bush was Atwater’s “alter ego”: Smith, Bush, p. 53.
78	 A furious Dubya called up: Evan Smith, “George, Washington.”
79	 Atwater later claimed that he realized the effectiveness: Brady, Bad Boy, p. 181.
79	 “make Willie Horton his running mate”: NYT, Jan. 13, 1991.
79	 At a rally in California: Brady, Bad Boy, p. 189.
79	 Atwater had once cracked: Evan Smith, “George, Washington.”
79	 “George went up as Sonny Corleone”: Updegrove, The Last Republicans, p. 196.
80	 “anchors him clearly as a Texas businessman”: Romano and Lardner, “The 
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Making of George W. Bush.” WP, July 31, 1999.
80	 The Rangers were a miserable franchise: Joe Nick Patoski, “Team Player,” Texas 

Monthly, June 1999.
80	 personally contributed just $600,000: Smith, Bush, p. 60.
81	 One time, late in an extra-inning game: Milbank, Smashmouth, p. 320.
81	 “A blockbuster”: T. R. Sullivan, “Get Ready for Another Star in Town,” Fort 

Worth Star-Telegram, Sept. 2, 1992.
81	 tired of the never-ending chaos: Bryant, Juicing the Game, pp. 107–9.
81	 Shortly after he joined the team: Canseco, Juiced, p. 133–36. In his book, Canseco 

names three players on the Rangers he claimed to have instructed: Rafael Palmeiro, 
outfielder Juan Gonzalez, and catcher Ivan Rodriguez. At a congressional hearing 
held in the wake of the publication of Canseco’s book, Palmeiro wagged his finger and 
declared under oath, “I have never used steroids. Period.” Five months later, he was 
suspended after testing positive for steroids. Juan Gonzalez also denied using steroids. 
But as described in the Mitchell Report, in 2001, Canadian border patrol officers would 
find steroids and syringes in a search of a duffel bag belonging to Gonzalez. Gonzalez 
has continued to maintain he never used steroids. Rodriguez, who went on to become a 
Hall of Fame catcher, declared in his autobiography, “I never took steroids.” No evidence 
beyond Canseco’s account has ever surfaced against him.

82	 “Before long,” Canseco later wrote: Canseco, Juiced, p. 136. Elfrink and Garcia-
Roberts would later describe the Rangers as “Team Zero” for the epidemic of steroid use 
in baseball during the 1990s (Blood Sport, p. 62).

82	 Who knows what Bush observed: In Juiced, Canseco notes that Bush and the team 
management would have seen his teammates “getting bigger before their eyes, starting 
within weeks after I joined the team” (pp. 133–34). Bush has always denied he was 
aware of any steroid use by Rangers players during his tenure as team owner.

82	 Its centerpiece was his personal collection: Milbank, Smashmouth, p. 315.
82	 he replied: “Nolan Ryan”: Carlson, “Devil May Care.”
82	 “I have always been underestimated”: Roger Simon, Divided We Stand (New York: 

Crown, 2001), p. 98.
83	 “Nobody needs to tell me”: Carlson, “Devil May Care.”
83	 “I know who I am”: Paul Burka, “The Man Who Isn’t There,” Texas Monthly, 

February 2004.
83	 “The man dyes his hair”: Bruni, Ambling into History, p. 30.
83	 “you can’t win”: Bush, Decision Points, p. 53.
83	 “family values don’t stop at the Rio Grande”: Smith, Bush, p. 104.
84	 more than one hundred fifty convicts to the death chamber: “Executions by State,” 

Death Penalty Information Center, deathpenaltyinfo.org.
84	 “ ‘How bad can I be?’ ”: Updegrove, The Last Republicans, p. 280.
84	 “I’m coming to learn”: Allison Adato, “Anchor Astray,” George, May 2000.
84	 “Bush brought both of his hands”: Seth Mnookin, “The Charm Offensive,” Brill’s 

Content, September 2000.
85	 “the second-handsomest man”: Lemann, “The Redemption.”
85	 “He came, he said, he accomplished”: Lemann, “The Redemption.”
85	 “I’m not interested in the people”: Evan Smith, “George, Washington.”
85	 For every stop in this campaign: Joshua Bolten, oral history, interviewed by 

Russell Riley et al., Miller Center (hereafter “Bolten, Miller Center oral history”).
85	 “I’m amazed”: Frank Bruni, “The Bushes Talk of History and How It Favors 

Their Son,” NYT, July 8, 2000.
86	 Poppy started arranging for his geopolitical education: Smith, Bush, pp. 98–99.
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86	 “In the big boys’ game”: Bob Woodward, State of Denial (New York: Simon and 
Schuster, 2006), p. 5.

86	 who surprised him with a pop quiz: Terry Neal, “Bush Falters in Foreign Policy 
Quiz,” WP, Nov. 5, 1999.

6: The Magic City

87	 awoke to a front-page article: Bill Carter, “Television’s New Voyeurism Pictures 
Real-Life Intimacy,” NYT, Jan. 30, 2000.

87	 called it “Camp Elián”: MH, April 7, 2000.
88	 One day, a newspaper writer: MH, Jan. 12, 2000.
88	 the cultural critic Frank Rich: Frank Rich, “The Age of the Mediathon,” New York 

Times Magazine, Oct. 29, 2000.
88	 the second-biggest celebrity story: MH, April 20, 2000.
88	 He was locally renowned: MH, Jan. 12, 2000.
89	 “the monster that tyrannizes”: MH, Jan. 8, 2000.
89	 “He is surrounded”: PBP, Jan. 10, 2000.
89	 “Elián said to me”: MH, Jan. 9, 2000.
89	 “the highest levels”: Rebecca Sanchez-Roig to numerous recipients, email, Dec. 17, 

1999, Reno Papers.
90	 one of only sixteen women: Anderson, Janet Reno, p. 37.
90	 She warned Janny: Reno, The Hell with Politics, p. 175.
91	 “Whoever you are”: Anderson, Janet Reno, p. 68.
91	 Reno watched the smoke rise: “Oral History of Janet Reno.”
92	 The Reverend Jesse Jackson flew down: Anderson, Janet Reno, p. 81.
92	 Reno would sometimes sing: Tom Junod, “Janet Reno Is Innocent,” Esquire, 

October 2000.
92	 Joan Didion wrote: Joan Didion, Miami (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1987).
93	 The militants had aged: T. D. Allman, Miami: City of the Future (Gainesville: 

University Press of Florida, 1987), p. 270.
93	 “He has a father”: MH, Jan. 7, 2000.
94	 “What we want”: PBP, Jan. 6, 2000.
94	 As a plane flew overhead: MH, Jan. 13, 2000.
94	 That evening, Juan Miguel appeared: MH, Jan. 14, 2000.
95	 “What I want is to go: MH, Jan. 15, 2000.
96	 “Janet Reno Is a Man”: MH, Jan. 9, 2000.
96	 “an old maid who prefers men”: Anderson, Janet Reno, p. 153.
96	 “At a certain point”: Liza Mundy, “Punch Lines: What Is It About Janet Reno that 

So Fascinates and Confounds and Even Terrifies America,” WP, Jan. 25, 1998.
97	 referred to her as “the Martian”: Jane Mayer, “Janet Reno, Alone,” The New 

Yorker, Dec. 1, 1997.
97	 also had a hideaway apartment: Author visit, 2019.
98	 “Far beyond the moon and stars”: Rosemary Wells, Voyage to the Bunny Planet 

(New York: Viking Books for Young Readers, 1992).
99	 “The things that went on”: Author interview, Lula Rodriguez.
99	 On a Saturday afternoon: MH, Jan. 23, 2000.
99	 “They flew to Washington”: MH, Jan. 23, 2000.
100	That Monday: MH, Jan. 25, 2000.
100	CBS announced: MH, Jan. 26, 2000.
101	 “Well,” Elián informed them: MH, Feb. 8, 2000.
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102	As the family arrived: MH, Jan. 27, 2000.
102	Elián called in to Radio Mambí: MH, Jan. 27, 2000.
102	“My grandson is different”: MH, Jan. 28, 2000.
102	The grandmothers flew home: MH, Jan. 31, 2000.
102	“mystery of bonding”: MH, Jan. 29, 2000.
102	She was troubled: Jeanne O’Laughlin, “Why I Changed My Mind About Elian,” 

NYT, Feb. 1, 2000.
103	“I was shocked”: MH, March 31, 2000.
103	a new sign appeared: MH, March 31, 2000.

7: For the People
104	After my first article was published: New York Observer, March 6, 2000.
105	nowhere near as rich: In 2000, Trump claimed he was worth $5 billion, while 

Forbes estimated his net worth at $1.6 billion. But a skeptical Wall Street Journal 
article suggested his fortune fell “far short” of either figure, pointing out a pattern of 
exaggerations in Trump’s estimates of the value of his assets (WSJ, Jan. 19, 2000). Five 
years later, journalist Tim O’Brien, author of the biography TrumpNation, would report 
that sources familiar with Trump’s finances estimated his true net worth to be in the 
range of $150 million to $250 million. Trump filed a libel lawsuit against O’Brien. In 
a deposition, Trump admitted that his estimate of his net worth “fluctuates, and it goes 
up and down with markets and with attitudes and with feelings, even my own feelings.” 
The suit was dismissed in 2009.

105	a story in the National Enquirer: “Get Ready for President Trump? Poll Shocker,” 
National Enquirer, Aug. 3, 1999.

106	“Everywhere you look”: Matt Labash, “Body Slam,” Weekly Standard, Aug. 9, 
1999.

107	“If it rains”: Matt Labash, “Roger Stone, Political Animal,” Weekly Standard, 
Nov. 5, 2007.

107	the National Enquirer revealed: Jeffrey Toobin, “The Dirty Trickster,” The New 
Yorker, June 2, 2008.

107	Stone was also helping: Andrea Bernstein and Ilya Marritz, “A Front Group, a 
Lawsuit and a Private Investigator: How Trump Rigged the System to Delay Gambling 
in New York,” WNYC.org, Oct. 20, 2016.

107	calling him “butt boy”: Author interview, former consultant to Trump.
108	“Our way of life is ending”: FTP, Nov. 30, 1999.
108	“beach ball with legs”: Author interview, Keith Alan.
108	Since the summer: “Chuck Harder update, July/August 2000,” chuckharder.com, 

archive.org.
109	he began broadcasting: Neely Tucker, “Shooting from the Lip,” Fort Myers News-

Press, Oct. 18, 1987.
109	“Naturally, the elite media”: Harder, Will We Ever Learn?
109	aired on hundreds of stations: Bob Davis, “Bashing Big Business Becomes 

Business for Talk-Show Host,” Wall Street Journal, May 16, 1996.
109	“He is the king”: Morris Dees with James Corcoran, Gathering Storm (New York: 

HarperCollins, 1996), p. 114.
109	in White Springs: Monica Davey, “A Big Voice,” Tampa Bay Times, June 9, 

1996.
110	 “workingman’s PBS”: Cooper, “The Paranoid Style.”
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110	 For the People club: William Freivogel, “Talking Tough,” St. Louis Post-Dispatch, 
May 10, 1995.

111	 “The wackiest people”: Author interview, former Reform Party official.
111	 “Why should his legacy”: Maureen Dowd, “Trump L’Oeil Tease,” NYT, Sept. 19, 

1999.
112	 obliged the would-be president: Adam Nagourney, “President? Why Not? Says a 

Man at the Top,” NYT, Sept. 25, 1999.
112	 “This is what this country”: Ian Goldstein, “Five of David Letterman’s Best Late 

Night Donald Trump Takedowns,” Vulture, March 28, 2017.
112	 One Sunday morning: Tim Russert interview with Jack Gargan, Meet the Press, 

NBC, Oct. 10, 1999.
113	 “favor is a positive thing”: James Bennet, “The Cable Guys,” New York Times 

Magazine, Oct. 24, 1999.
113	 “the greatest architect”: Lisa Birnbach, “Mi Casa Es Su Casa,” New York, Feb. 12, 

1996.
113	 homespun party leaders: Brian Crowley, “Trump Woos Reform Leaders with Soiree at 

Mar-a-Lago,” PBP, Jan. 15, 2000.
114	 “It was hilarious”: Author interview, former Reform Party official.

8: The Life
115	 At around eleven o’clock: ATF Report No. 45, Aug. 6, 1999.
115	 Ingram called from the road: Recorded telephone call between Kevin Ingram and 

Randy Glass, Aug. 4, 1999.
115	 bringing their tennis gear: Recorded telephone call between Kevin Ingram and 

Randy Glass, Aug. 3, 1999.
115	 That was how they first connected: Author interview, Kevin Ingram.
116	 Glass owned a jewelry store: Indictment, USA v. Randy Glass, U.S. District Court 

for the Southern District of Florida, filed June 19, 1998.
116	 Didi had come to Glass: ATF Report No. 108, June 26, 2001.
116	 maybe stolen a few of the diamonds: ATF Report No. 109, Oct. 2, 2001.
116	 passing off phony Picassos: ATF Report No. 40, July 1, 1999.
116	 truckload of stolen Minolta copiers: ATF Report Nos. 45–49, Aug. 6–31, 1999.
116	 plundered Egyptian antiquities: Dale Armstrong, “Case Study: Operation 

Sphinx,” Firearms Trafficking: A Guide for Criminal Investigations (Augusta, GA: 
Prudens Group Consulting, 2018), p. 326.

116	 lived a charmed life: Author interview, Benjamin Seaman.
116	 pulled up in the Ferrari: ATF Report No. 45, Aug. 6, 1999.
116	 He had flown in from the West Coast: Author interview, Dick Stoltz.
116	 “I’m a financial engineer”: Landon Thomas Jr., “Kevin Ingram Pal Questioned 

About Bin Laden,” New York Observer, Oct. 1, 2001.
116	 He diagrammed on the whiteboard: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”
117	 Glass presented $250,000: ATF Report No. 45, Aug. 6, 1999.
117	 gave Ingram a bank account number: Affidavit of ATF agent Stephen Barborini.
117	 Ingram and Didi drove back: Affidavit of ATF agent Stephen Barborini.
117	 went out to a strip club: Thomas, “Kevin Ingram Pal Questioned About Bin 

Laden.”
117	 Glass had promised: Author interview, Dick Stoltz; ATF Report No. 52, Oct. 12, 

1999.
117	 finalize the settlement: Stipulation and order of dismissal, Deutsche Bank v. 

Ingram, U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, case closed Aug. 5, 
1999.
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117	 “I wasn’t particularly shocked”: Author interview, former Goldman Sachs 
executive.

118	 “He was a golden boy”: Author interview, Yves Jadot.
118	 Ingram first glimpsed her: Author interviews, Kevin Ingram and Deann Prince. 

Sparkle also describes her first encounter with Kevin in thinly veiled fashion in a 
romance novel (D. A. Prince, Disastrously Fabulous [self-published, 2016]).

118	 “If you like what you see”: Author interview, Deann Prince.
118	 “He was a little arrogant”: Author interview, friend of Sparkle’s from the modeling 

world.
119	 The first use of google as a verb: Virginia Heffernan, “Just Google It: A Short 

History of a Newfound Verb,” Wired, Nov. 15, 2017.
119	 a swashbuckling megalomaniac: David Enrich, Dark Towers: Deutsche Bank, 

Donald Trump, and an Epic Tale of Destruction (New York: Custom House, 2020), pp. 
44–48.

119	 “Let’s kick Goldman’s ass”: Enrich, Dark Towers, p. 72.
119	 “It was a totally cowboy mentality”: Author interview, former Deutsche Bank 

colleague of Ingram’s.
120	an unexplored niche: Author interview, Mike Offit; Enrich, Dark Towers, pp. 

72–73.
120	multimillion-dollar bonus: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”
120	“Kevin’s life was a gamble”: Author interview, friend of Sparkle’s from the 

modeling world.
121	a silent investment: Author interview, Frank Cilione.
121	“a ghetto fabulous place”: Author interview, Jay Norris.
121	big weekend nights: This description is based in part on a review of archival issues 

of Tastemakers, a nightlife magazine published by Jay Norris.
121	Simmons’s beach wedding: Nancy Jo Sales, “The Mix Master,” New York, May 10, 

1999.
121	“We would always kick their ass”: Author interview, former Wall Street investment 

bank executive.
122	“Russell knows the market”: Sales, “The Mix Master.”
122	discovered on the shore: Ronald Kessler, The Season (New York: HarperCollins, 

1999), p. 191.
122	“ignorant of Black culture”: “Meet the First Babes,” George, February/March 

2000.
122	Ingram had recruited: Enrich, Dark Towers, pp. 73–77.
123	commemorated the transaction: Enrich, Dark Towers, pp. 76–77.
124	“at about a hundred twenty miles per hour”: Author interview, Philmore 

Anderson.
124	“Instead of having a couple of cups”: Author interview, Frank Cilione.
124	“Sometimes you’re too smart”: Author interview, Jerry McMillan.
125	a diagnosis of bipolar disorder: Dr. Amar Das, “Psychiatric Evaluation and 

Treatment Summary,” Nov. 23, 2001, filed in a probation violation proceeding in U.S. 
District Court for the Eastern District of New York, 2004 (Docket No. 04-261).

126	raised some eyebrows: Author interview, Karen Ingram.
126	Ingram’s department lost: Christopher O’Leary, “From ARMs to Arms,” 

Investment Dealers’ Digest, June 25, 2001.
126	he would have to fire him: Thomas, “Ex-Goldman Trader Stung in Arms Plot.”
127	a $10 billion merger: Enrich, Dark Towers, pp. 65–66.
127	a rumor ripped across: Author interviews, Mike Offit and Jerry McMillan.
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127	“challenging the finance culture”: Whitford, “Jesse Shakes the Money Tree.”
127	Jackson later told a journalist: Kenneth Timmerman, Shakedown: Exposing the 

Real Jesse Jackson (Washington, DC: Regnery, 2002), p. 327.
127	Ingram sobbed: Spiro, “Wall Street’s Soldier of Fortune.”
127	Deutsche Bank alleged: Leslie Wayne, “From Riches to Relative Rags,” NYT, Oct. 27, 

2001.
128	He wanted to reopen: Kevin Ingram, affidavit, Zoran Chanin v. Kevin Ingram, 

New York State Supreme Court, filed May 18, 2001.
128	ignoring his lawyer’s bills: Complaint, Broach & Stulberg LLP v. Kevin Ingram, 

New York State Supreme Court, filed Nov. 19, 1999.
128	“Kevin became a pretty damn good”: Author interview, Jerry McMillan.
129	“I am the main man”: Author interview, Diaa Mohsen.
129	a construction company called BIA: Thomas, “Kevin Ingram Pal Questioned 

About Bin Laden.”
130	represented Egypt in the Olympics: “Defendant’s Objections to Pre-Sentence 

Investigation Report,” USA v. Diaa Mohsen, U.S. District Court for Southern District of 
Florida, Document No. 94, filed Jan. 30, 2002.

130	brother was a retired army general: ATF Report No. 107, June 19, 2001.
130	on a trip to Egypt: ATF Report No. 50, Sept. 22, 1999; ATF Report No. 108, 

June 26, 2001; ATF Report No. 110, Oct. 9, 2001.
130	“Hi . . . from Africa”: Email from Kevin Ingram to Zoran Chanin, Sept. 7, 1999, 

filed as an exhibit in Chanin v. Ingram.
130	connected to a Florida billionaire: Author interview, Kevin Ingram.
130	as large as $300 million: ATF Report No. 52, Oct. 12, 1999.
131	 Didi told Glass that Ingram was “shaking”: ATF Report No. 49, Aug. 31, 1999.
131	 “You know when you get a horse”: Recorded telephone call between Diaa Mohsen 

and Randy Glass, July 26, 1999.
131	 Ingram received around $6 million: Timmerman, Shakedown, p. 327.
132	“Let me ask you a question”: Recorded telephone call between Diaa Mohsen and 

Randy Glass, Aug. 5, 1999.
132	Glass later claimed that in their initial meeting: ATF Report No. 39, June 22, 

1999. See detailed discussion in notes to chapter 4, “The Wall Street Project.”
132	“don’t mix the two things”: Recorded telephone call between Diaa Mohsen and 

Randy Glass, Aug. 16, 1999.
133	“Remember the guy”: Recorded telephone call between Diaa Mohsen and Randy 

Glass, July 8, 1999.

9: The Force of Things

134	“This is a good place”: Raw video and a translation of Jarrah’s martyrdom 
statement was introduced into evidence in proceedings of USA v. al-Bahlul. The footage 
was never incorporated into a propaganda video.

136	“Joy kills the heart”: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 61.
136	la force des choses: Marc Sageman, Turning to Political Violence: The Emergence of 

Terrorism (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2017), p. 5.
136	But there was another force in Jarrah’s life: Aysel Sengün was extensively 

questioned by the Bundeskriminalamt (BKA), the German federal law enforcement 
agency, and those interrogations form the basis of what is publicly known about the 
process of his radicalization.
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137	By the time he called: Terry McDermott and Josh Meyer, The Hunt for KSM (New 
York: Back Bay Books/Little, Brown, 2012), p. 139.

137	“While they use their muscles”: Written testimony of Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, 
USA v. Hage et al., proceedings against defendant Sulaiman Abu Ghaith, filed April 2, 
2014, p. 7.

137	later told interrogators: FBI, summary of interrogation of Abdul Aziz Ali, USA v. 
KSM, filed Nov. 27, 2017.

137	He hatched plots: Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, statement to military commission 
at Guantanamo Bay, March 10, 2007.

137	He had first pitched the concept: 9/11 Commission Report, p. 154.
138	Egyptian pilot: Author interview, Nelly Lahoud.
138	a one-legged Yemeni jihadi: Ali Soufan, The Black Banners (New York: W.W. 

Norton, 2011), p. 255.
138	“cover language”: Zacarias Moussaoui, testimony, USA v. Moussaoui.
138	“faculty of architecture”: CIA, “11 September: The Plot and the Plotters,” 2003, 

National Security Archive.
138	Mukhtar was under the impression: Khalid Sheikh Mohammed, written 

testimony, USA v. Moussaoui.
139	he was pulled aside by Emirati security officials: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, pp. 

186–87.
140	“Without trying to judge”: Aysel Sengün, statement, BKA Files.
140	“He wanted to make”: Sengün, statement, BKA Files.
141	 “I couldn’t sleep last night: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 81.
141	 a quiet wedding: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 78. The marriage was never 

officially registered, and Sengün appears to have considered it unofficial.
141	 Aysel referred to it as his “rebellious” phase: Sengün, statement, BKA Files.
141	 “We came here to Germany”: Carol Williams, “Friends of Terror Suspect Say 

Allegation Made No Sense,” Los Angeles Times, Oct. 23, 2001.
142	He doodled pictures: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 188.
142	At night, lying beside him: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 187.
142	“The hearts of freemen”: “The Al Qaeda Manual,” 9/11 Commission Files. This 

book, also referred to by the title Military Studies in the Jihad Against Tyrants, was 
recovered by British police in the search of an Al Qaeda member’s home in the 1990s.

142	Atta composed an email: Email contained in BKA Files.
143	 in a trade magazine called Aerokurier: Pascal Schreier, testimony, USA v. 

Moussaoui.
143	Jarrah struck the recruiter: Author interview, Pascal Schreier.
143	This sparked another fight: McDermott, Perfect Soldiers, p. 188.

10: Oscar Night

145	 a chance encounter with inspiration: Russ Spencer, “Where You Find It,” Salon, 
March 25, 2000; Alex Koenig, “Anything but Ordinary: American Beauty Screenwriter 
Alan Ball on the Film’s 15th Anniversary,” Huffington Post, Sept. 3, 2014.

145	 “An amazing film”: Brian Raftery, Best. Movie. Year. Ever.: How 1999 Blew Up 
the Big Screen (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2019). The films featured in the 2000 
Oscar ceremony were all released during the previous year. This account is indebted to 
Raftery’s excellent retrospective of the movies of 1999.

146	“I hope you’ll put me to work for you”: PBP, Feb. 7, 2000.
146	publicly mulling: Peter Biskind, “He Stars, She Stars,” Vanity Fair, February 



20

2000. Beatty told Biskind that Roger Stone urged him to run before turning to 
Trump.

146	“If you had your choice”: Warren Beatty, Irving G. Thalberg Award acceptance 
speech, March 26, 2000.

147	 “that plastic bag”: Alan Ball, Academy Award acceptance speech, March 26, 2000.
148	The thirteen-minute film: Untitled Al Gore Documentary, directed by Spike Jonze, 

Democratic National Committee, 2000, accessed via YouTube.
149	 “One suspects that”: Louis Menand, “After Elvis,” The New Yorker, Oct. 26, 1998.
149	 a book called: Katherine Boo, “The Drama of the Gifted Vice President,” WP, 

Nov. 28, 1993.
149	 He had been groomed: This account of Al Gore’s early life and career is based 

primarily on the excellent biography The Prince of Tennessee, by David Maraniss and 
Ellen Y. Nakashima (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2000).

149	 Family legend had it: Maraniss and Nakashima, The Prince of Tennessee, p. 41.
149	 “I pointed out”: Al Gore, The Assault on Reason (New York: Penguin, 2007), p. 9.
150	 “I’m going to run”: Maraniss and Nakashima, The Prince of Tennessee, p. 165.
150	 He held the first congressional hearing: Al Gore, Earth in the Balance (New York: 

Houghton Mifflin, 1992), pp. 4–6.
151	 “Gore comes off to me”: Richard Berke, “Campaign C.E.O.: Gore Dots the i’s 
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151	 Jackson brought down the house: Maraniss and Nakashima, The Prince of 

Tennessee, p. 214.
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176	 Jeb spent the holiday: MH, Jan. 16, 2000.
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Doc. No. 409.
183	20,000 other voters: Expert report of David Klausner, NAACP v. Harris, Doc. No. 
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220	“You’re the best”: New York Post, May 18, 2000.
221	the president called up the reporter: Richard Berke, “Clinton Admits to Concerns 

as Gore Campaign Stumbles,” NYT, May 14, 1999.
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